Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-23-2015

Bezdicek v. Idaho Transp. Dept. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42608

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Mr. Bezdicek appeals the Idaho Department of Transportation's suspension of his driving privileges for failing an evidentiary test for alcohol concentration.

Statement of Facts

On March 18, 2014, at approximately 2:30 a.m., Mr. Bezdicek was stopped by Lewiston Police Department Officer Mowery for driving without headlights. R. p. 36. From the time the officer first observed the headlight violation until the time the stop was made, the officer did not observe Mr. Bezdicek violate any other traffic laws nor drive in a manner suggestive of a person driving under the influence of alcohol. R. p. 146, Ls. 9-12. Mr. Bezdicek used his turn signals when making turns; he stayed within his lane of travel; he did not wander within his lane of travel; he did not engage in erratic driving; and, he pulled over within a reasonable time after Officer Mowery activated his emergency lights. R. p.146, L. 9 - p. 147, L. 6. Mr. Bezdicek did not lose his balance when he got out of his vehicle and did not have any slurred speech. R. p. 146, Ls. 7-15.

Mr. Bezdicek admitted to having consumed a couple of beers with the last drink about an hour prior to the stop. R. P. 36, ¶4. Officer Mowery observed that Mr. Bezdicek's eyes were bloodshot and watery. R. P. 36, ¶2. Further, he smelled a moderate odor of an alcoholic beverage coming from Bezdicek when standing, face to face and in close proximity to Bezdicek. R. p. 36, ¶6. Officer Mowery "then explained to Bezdicek that [he] would be conducting sobriety tests on

his person to make sure that he was safe to drive." *Id*.

Officer Mowery then administered three standardized field sobriety tests; namely the horizontal gaze nystagmus, the walk and turn and the one leg stand test. R. p. 147, Ls. 17 - 24. The officer observed four indicators on the HGN which met the threshold number of indicators indicating a failure of the eye test. However, Mr. Bezdicek passed the walk and turn test and the one leg stand test. Officer Mowery observed **none** of the eight indicators on Mr. Bezdicek's walk and turn test and only one indicator on the one-leg stand. R. P. 37, ¶ 3-4. The threshold number of indicators of being under the influence for each test is two indicators. R. p. 157, Ls. 13-20.

Despite passing the two field sobriety tests, Officer Mowery arrested Mr. Bezdicek. Subsequent to the arrest, the officer administered a breath test. The initial test was invalidated due to radio frequency interference error. R. p. 62. The next two breath tests produced .155 and .147 BrAC results. *Id*.

Course of Proceedings

Mr. Bezdicek requested an ALS hearing on March 21, 2014. R. p. 45-48. The request for hearing sought subpoenas which were issued on March 24, 2014. R. pp. 51-54. On March 24, the date the subpoenas were issued, the hearing officer also issued a show cause letter extending the hearing date to "allow time for the receipt of subpoenaed evidence requested by the petitioner." R. p. 72. The subpoenas were actually served on March 24th and March 25th. R. pp 55-58. The materials requested in the Subpoena Duces Tecum had been provided to the Petitioner by March 31,

2014. R. pp. 17-18, ¶12.

The hearing was held on April 17, 2014. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order were issued on April 30, 2014, wherein the suspension was sustained. The Petition for Judicial Review was timely filed on May 12, 2014. The honorable Judge Gaskill filed the Memorandum Opinion and Order on Petition for Judicial Review on August 29, 2014. Bezdicek timely filed his Notice of Appeal on October 10, 2014.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the Hearing Officer Commit Error in Determining That the Officer Had Legal Cause to Arrest Mr. Bezdicek and to Request That He Submit to an Evidentiary Test?
- 2. Did the District Court Commit Error in Finding that the ALS hearing was held timely in accordance with Idaho Code Section 18-8002A?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Idaho Administrative Procedures Act (IDAPA) governs the review of department decisions to deny, cancel, suspend, disqualify, revoke, or restrict a person's driver's license. *See* I.C. §§49-330, 67-5201(2) and 67-5270. In an appeal from the decision of the district court acting in its appellate capacity under the IDAPA, this Court reviews the agency record independently of the district court's decision. *Marshall v. Idaho Dep't of Transp.*, 137 Idaho 337, 340, 48 P.3d 666, 669 (Ct.App.2002). This Court does not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence presented. I.C. § 67–5279(1); *Marshall*, 137 Idaho at 340, 48 P.3d at 669.

This Court, instead, defers to the agency's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Castaneda v. Brighton Corp.*, 130 Idaho 923, 926, 950 P.2d 1262, 1265 (1998); *Marshall*, 137 Idaho at 340, 48 P.3d at 669. In other words, the agency's factual determinations are binding on the reviewing court, even where there is conflicting evidence before the agency, so long as the determinations are supported by substantial and competent evidence in the record. *Urrutia v. Blaine Cnty.*, *ex rel. Bd. of Comm'rs*, 134 Idaho 353, 357, 2 P.3d 738, 742 (2000); *Marshall*, 137 Idaho at 340, 48 P.3d at 669.

The Court may overturn an agency's decision where its findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions: (a) violate statutory or constitutional provisions; (b) exceed the agency's statutory authority; (c) are made upon unlawful procedure; (d) are not supported by substantial evidence in the record; or (e) are arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion. I.C. § 67-5279(3). The party challenging the agency decision must demonstrate that the agency erred in a manner specified in I.C. § 67-5279(3) and that a substantial right of that party has been prejudiced. *Price v. Payette County Bd. of County Comm'rs*, 131 Idaho 426, 429, 958 P.2d 583, 586 (1998); *Peck v. State, Dept. of Transp.*, 153 Idaho 37, 42, 278 P.3d 439, 444 (Idaho App. 2012)

ARGUMENT

I. The Hearing Officer Committed Error in Finding That the Officer Had Legal Cause to Arrest Mr. Bezdicek and to Request him to Submit to Evidentiary Testing.

Officer Mowery did not possess probable cause to arrest Mr. Bezdicek for Driving Under the Influence and, thus, the arrest and subsequent evidentiary test were done in violation of Mr. Bezdicek's Fourth Amendment rights against unreasonable search and seizures. An individual may be arrested without affront to Fourth Amendment protections only if there exists probable cause to believe that the subject has committed an offense. *State v. Pannell*, 127 Idaho 420, 425, 901 P.2d 1321, 1326 (1995). Probable cause for an arrest exists where the officer possesses information that would lead a person of ordinary care and prudence to believe or entertain an honest and strong suspicion that the person arrested is guilty. *State v. Alger*, 100 Idaho 675, 603 P.2d 1009 (1979); *State v. Loyd*, 92 Idaho 20, 23, 435 P.2d 797, 800 (1967).

In this case, Officer Mowery did not possess reasonable suspicion, let alone probable cause, to believe that Mr. Bezdicek was driving in violation of I.C. ¶18-8004. The facts in the record leading up to the arrest eliminated any legitimate notion that Mr. Bezdicek was operating a vehicle while impaired. More particularly, in contrast to an impaired driver, Mr. Bezdicek used his turn signals when required; he stayed within his lane of travel; he did not weave within his lane of travel; he did not drive in an erratic manner; and he stopped in a reasonable time after the officer initiated his emergency lights. R. p. 146, L. 9 - p. 147, L. 6. When the officer had him exit the vehicle, Mr. Bezdicek did not lose his balance. Further, he did he have slurred speech. R. p. 146, Ls. 13-14. Most importantly, he passed the two key field sobriety tests; namely, the one leg stand and walk and turn tests.

Field sobriety tests are used to either confirm or dispel an officer's reasonable suspicion that a driver is under the influence of alcohol. *State v. Martinez-Gonzalez*, 152 Idaho 775,780 (2012); see also, *State v. Ferreira*, 133 Idaho 474, 484, 988 P.2d 700, 710 (Ct. App. 1999). "[P]erforming poorly on such tests can raise the level of suspicion to probable cause..." *Martinez-Gonzalez*, 152 Idaho at 780. By parity of reasoning, performing well on such tests would dispel any reasonable suspicion and would eliminate any legal cause to arrest. This is especially true since the HGN test, standing alone, has been deemed insufficient as evidence of a person being under the influence. Instead, the HGN is only relevant when considered with the other field sobriety tests. *State v. Gleason*, 123 Idaho 62, 66 (1992). The Court in *Gleason*, stated that "Garrett allows the use of HGN test evidence only in conjunction with evidence from other field sobriety tests..." Id., citing *State v. Garrett*, 119 Idaho 878, 811 P.2d 488 (1991)(emphasis added).

Since Mr. Bezdicek passed the two key field sobriety tests the hearing officer should have vacated the license suspension since there was no legal cause to arrest Mr. Bezdicek nor to request that he submit to an evidentiary test.

A review of the record finds that both the hearing officer and the district court in the judicial review hearing, mistakenly determined that there was "competent evidence of impaired memory and difficulty in Mr. Bezdicek following directions. (See R. p. 12 and p. 187). Such findings are simply not supported by the record. Instead, the impaired memory and difficulty in following directions was attributed by the Officer to the passenger, Leslee Grubb and not to Mr. Bezdicek. As noted by the

officer in his narrative, "While Bezdicek was retrieving his documentation, I asked Grubb if she had any identification on her. I noticed that Grubb's movements were slow, lethargic, and she had a hard time staying focused at the task of retrieving her identification for me." R. p. 36 ¶3 (emphasis added); "Grubb continued to lose focus and turn her attention back to her own cell hone while I was waiting." R. p. 37 ¶6 (emphasis added) Neither the police narrative nor the officer's testimony during the ALS hearing presented evidence that Bezdicek had impaired memory or difficulty in following directions. Moreover, the video recording of the field sobriety tests (Exhibit E) affirmatively establishes Mr. Bezdicek did not display any signs of being under the influence. While the officer's report states that during the HGN, Mr. Bezdicek seemed to have some difficulty focusing upon the officer's finger that was used as a stimulus. The video, however, disproves this claim. The video reveals that any difficulty in focusing on the stimulus was caused by the officer administering the test. In the video, Mr. Bezdicek comments that the officer's finger was shaking and Officer Mowery conceding that fact and claims it was because of the cold.

The evidence before the hearing officer established that Officer Mowery did not have legal cause to arrest Mr. Bezdicek nor require him to submit to the evidentiary test. The hearing officer's conclusion to the contrary is not supported by the evidence and runs contrary to the law concerning the level of significance that can be attached to the HGN. As such, the license suspension should be vacated.

II. The ALS Hearing Was Not Timely Held in Violation of Idaho Code Section 18-8002a.

The license suspension hearing was not held in a timely manner as required by Idaho Code 18-8002A and, thus, the suspension should be vacated. Idaho Code 18-8002A states,

If a hearing is requested, the hearing shall be held within twenty (20) days of the date of the hearing request was received by the department unless this period is, for good cause shown, extended by the hearing officer for one ten (10) day period. Such an extension shall not operate as a stay of the suspension, notwithstanding an extension of the hearing date beyond such thirty (30) day period.

In the case at bar, the request for hearing was made on March 21, 2014. As such, the ALS hearing was required to be held within 20 days or by April 10, 2014. On March 24, 2012, however, the hearing officer issued a show cause letter extending the hearing date to "allow time for the receipt of subpoenaed evidence requested by the petitioner." Based upon this decision, the hearing was scheduled for April 17, 2014. R. p. 11, ¶6. Without question, the hearing officer did not have good cause to extend the hearing date simply because subpoenas were requested as there was nothing to suggest information sought would not be provided to Mr. Bezdicek before the twenty days for a hearing expired. Clearly, the legislature contemplated the issuance of subpoenas when it established the twenty-day limitation for the hearing to be held. Therefore, the hearing officer's finding of good cause based solely upon the Petitioner's request for subpoenas is contrary to the legislature's intent.

Had there been an issue with the timeliness of securing the documents requested then the Petitioner could have requested that the hearing to be extended. Here, the officer made a preemptive determination which was proven incorrect given that the subpoenas were served by March 25, 2015

and the evidence was received by the Petitioner by March 31, 2014. R. p. 17, ¶ 7, 11)

Since good cause did not exist to allow for the hearing date to extend beyond the twenty day period mandated by law the hearing officer's determination that the hearing was held in accordance with Idaho Code §18-18-8002A was in error.

This Court heard a similar argument in *Peck v. Dept. Of Transp.*, 153 Idaho 37, 278 P.3d 439 (2012) wherein the driver challenged the notice and procedure of the hearing. In *Peck*, the driver claimed reversible error as result of the ALS hearing being held after the twenty day time period. The Court disagreed and found that the driver had failed to establish that the hearing officer lacked good cause for holding the hearing outside the twenty days. No such deficiency exists in this case. Clearly, good cause for extending a hearing beyond the twenty days cannot exist on day one simply because subpoenas were requested.

The driver in *Peck* also failed because he did not articulate how any substantial right was prejudiced. Again, in the case at bar, there is no such shortcoming since Mr. Bezdicek's substantial rights were clearly prejudiced because the delayed hearing resulted in him losing his right to drive without any decision having been made. Given the facts of this case, the hearing was held in violation of Idaho Code Section 18-8002A such that the hearing officer should have vacated the license suspension.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the above, Mr. Bezdicek respectfully requests this Court set aside the agency's decision.