Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-21-2015

Bezdicek v. Idaho Transp. Dept. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42608

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

IV. ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1

Whether legal cause exists to believe Mr. Bezdicek was operating a motor vehicle under the influence of alcohol, drugs or intoxicating substances.

Mr. Bezdicek characterized the issue for the Court as whether legal cause exists to arrest Mr. Bezdicek and to require Mr. Bezdicek to submit to evidentiary testing. Such an issue is not before the Department's Hearing Examiner. The Hearing Examiner is to

consider whether Mr. Bezdicek has met his burden to show that legal cause does not exist for the stop of Mr. Bezdicek's vehicle, I.C. § 18-8002A(7)(a) or to believe that Mr. Bezdicek was operating a motor vehicle under the influence, I.C. § 18-8002A(7)(b).

Pursuant to I.C. § 18-8002A(7)(a) Mr. Bezdicek has the obligation to demonstrate that legal cause to stop Mr. Bezdicek's vehicle did not exist. Mr. Bezdicek does not characterize this issue as legal cause to stop but instead characterizes the issue as to the existence of legal cause to arrest.

Clearly there is legal cause for Officer Mowery to stop Mr. Bezdicek's vehicle. There is no dispute that Officer Mowery observed Mr. Bezdicek's vehicle without its headlights. The Hearing Examiner makes careful findings about the presence of legal cause to stop Mr. Bezdicek's vehicle. (FN Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order 1.1-1.4 R. pp. 11-12). Mr. Bezdicek does not disagree that he was operating his motor vehicle without headlights.¹

Mr. Bezdicek correctly states the standard to review the actions of Officer Mowery as legal cause but then employs an inappropriate probable cause analysis. The existence of legal cause to arrest Mr. Bezdicek is simply not an issue before the Hearing Examiner in this setting. Whether a seizure occurs in the context of a criminal prosecution is not an

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order, R. pp. 11-12.

^{1.1} On March 18, 2014, at approximately 2:30 a.m., Officer Mowery was sitting stationary in the 100 block of Main Street in Nez Perce County, Idaho, when he witnessed Bezdicek's vehicle traveling southbound on First Street onto Main Street heading eastbound without activated headlights.

^{1.2} I.C. § 49-903 provides that every vehicle upon a highway at any time from sunset to sunrise and at any other time when there is not sufficient light to render clearly discernible persons and vehicles on the highway at a distance of 500 feet shall display lighted lamps.

^{1.3} Bezdicek's vehicle was in violation of I.C. § 49-903.

^{1.4} Officer Mowery possessed legal cause for the stop of Bezdicek's vehicle.

issue in the Administrative License Suspension setting, I.C. §18-8002A(7).²

Whether there are some facts which cause a reasonable suspicion to be dispelled in the criminal setting eliminating probable cause to arrest is simply not a question before the Hearing Examiner pursuant to I.C. §18-8002A(7).

Additionally, Mr. Bezdicek has the burden to show that Officer Mowery did not have legal cause to believe that Mr. Bezdicek was operating a motor vehicle under the influence of alcohol, drugs or other intoxicating substances, I.C. § 18-8002A7(b).

² Whether an unreasonable search and seizure occurred is clearly not an inquiry for the Department's Hearing Examiner. Clearly the Administrative License Suspension is intended to be a civil process entirely separate and removed from the criminal prosecution which may arise from a failed evidentiary test for alcohol concentration. A suppression of evidence in the criminal case would not mean Mr. Bezdicek met his burden to show that legal cause did not exist in the Administrative License Suspension case, I.C. § 18-8002A(7).

The legal cause standard has been clear in the Administrative License Suspension setting since the Court of Appeals decision *In re Suspension of Driver's License of Gibbar*, 143 Idaho 937, 155 P.3d 1176 (Ct. App. 2006).³

Mr. Bezdicek also inappropriately asks that the Court weigh the evidence differently than the Hearing Examiner (see for example Mr. Bezdicek's Opening Brief p. 7 LL. 8-13). Clearly the Court's role on judicial review is to determine whether there is a sufficient basis in the record to support the Hearing Examiner's decision, not to substitute its judgment for that the Hearing Examiner, I.C. § 67-5279(1), Woodfield v. Bd of Professional Discipline, 127 Idaho 738, 905 p.2d 1047 (Ct. App. 1995), Bennett v. State, 147 Idaho 141, 206 P3d 505 (Ct. App. 2009). The question for the Department's Hearing Examiner is whether Mr. Bezdicek has met his burden to demonstrate that legal cause did not exist to stop Mr. Bezdicek's vehicle or for Officer Mowery's belief that Mr. Bezdicek was under the influence of drugs, alcohol or intoxicating drugs.

In re Suspension of Driver's License of Gibbar, 143 Idaho 937, 155 P.3d 1176 (Ct. App. 2006)

The reasonable suspicion standard requires less than probable cause but more than mere speculation or instinct on the part of the officer. *Id.* An officer may draw reasonable inferences from the facts in his or her possession, and those inferences may be drawn from the officer's experience and law enforcement training. *State v. Montague, 114 Idaho 319, 321, 756 P.2d 1083, 1085 (Ct.App. 1988).* Suspicion will not be found to be justified if the conduct observed by the officer fell within the broad range of what can be described as normal driving behavior. *Atkinson, 128 Idaho at 561, 916 P.2d at 1286.*

Clearly, the question for the Hearing Examiner is not whether legal cause exists to request Mr. Bezdicek to submit to evidentiary testing. Here the Hearing Examiner again makes complete and thorough findings as to the existence of legal cause to believe that Mr. Bezdicek was operating a motor vehicle under the influence of drugs, alcohol or intoxicating substances.⁴

Additionally, Mr. Bezdicek does not indicate that the record does not support the Hearing Examiner's Findings and Conclusions.

The question for the Hearing Examiner is not whether a field sobriety test was passed or failed. The question for the Hearing Examiner to consider the entirety of the circumstances at the time of Officer Mowery's contact with Mr. Bezdicek to determine if Officer Mowery had a reasonable articulable suspicion that Mr. Bezdicek was under the influence of alcohol, *Gibbar* (see FN 2).

Mr. Bezdicek does not dispute Officer Mowery's observations as to Mr. Bezdicek's

2.

Did Officer Mowery Possess Legal Cause for Bryan Bezdicek's Arrest, Legal Cause to Believe Bezdicek was Driving While Under the Influence of Alcohol in Violation of Idaho Code §18-8004, and Legal Cause to Request Bezdicek Submit to Evidentiary Testing?

- 2.1 Bezdicek's driving and actual physical control of the motor vehicle was established by the observation of Officer Mowery.
- 2.2 Competent evidence of Bezdicek's impairment:
 - a. Smelled moderately of an alcoholic beverage
 - b. Admitted drinking alcoholic beverages-couple of beers
 - c. Difficulty focusing
 - d. Impaired memory
 - e. Watery eyes
 - f. Bloodshot eyes
 - g. Difficulty following instructions
 - h. Swaying
- 2.3 Bezdicek met or exceeded the minimum decision pointes on the following standardized field sobriety test:
 - a. Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus (HGN)

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order-6 (R. p. 89).

condition. Mr. Bezdicek only offers an alternative explanation for Mr. Bezdicek appearing under the influence. Again, the question for the Hearing Examiner is not whether Mr. Bezdicek is under the influence, the question is whether there was a reasonable basis for Officer Mowery's belief that Mr. Bezdicek was under the influence, *Gibbar*, *id*. The Hearing Examiner sets out specifically the factual basis to conclude legal cause exists for Trooper Mowery's belief that Mr. Bezdicek was operating a motor vehicle under the influence of alcohol (FFCLO 2.2, 2.3, 2.7, 2.13 R. pp. 12-13).⁵

Mr. Bezdicek only addresses the field sobriety tests and not the other observations of Officer Mowery. The Hearing Examiner analyzes the circumstances of detention (albeit gratuitously), the admission of the consumption of alcoholic beverages and the smell of alcoholic beverages, concluding that Officer Mowery had a reasonable articulable suspicion for his belief that Mr. Bezdicek was operating a motor vehicle under the influence of alcohol (R. p. 12).

5

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, R. pp. 12-13

^{2.2} Competent evidence of Bezdicek's impairment:

a. Smelled moderately of an alcoholic beverage

b. Admitted drinking alcoholic beverages-couple of beers

c. Difficulty focusing

d. Impaired memory

e. Watery eyes

^{2.3} Bezdicek met or exceeded the minimum decision points on the following standardized field sobriety test:

a. Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus (HGN)

^{2.7} Upon review of the narrative report, oral testimony and as set forth in Finding #2 above, Officer Mowery has clearly articulated 8 indicators of impairment/intoxification, thus leading to sufficient legal cause to request evidentiary testing.

^{2.13} Although Bezdicek displayed no suspicious driving and passed two of the three standardized field sobriety tests, the smelling moderately of an alcoholic beverage, the admission of consuming alcoholic beverages, exhibiting impaired memory, having difficulty focusing and following instructions, displaying water and bloodshot eyes, and swaying while standing are not the norm nor expected condition of an ordinary and prudent vehicle driver who operates a motor vehicle in the normal course of everyday driving.

Since Mr. Bezdicek argues that probable cause is lacking to arrest him and that an apparently insufficient factual basis exists for Officer Mowery's request that Mr. Bezdicek submits to an evidentiary test, it is difficult to determine how it is that Mr. Bezdicek met his burden to show either that Officer Mowery did not have legal cause for the stop of Mr. Bezdicek's vehicle or that a reasonable articulable suspicion does not exist for Officer Mowery's belief that Mr. Bezdicek was operating a motor vehicle under the influence of alcohol.

Mr. Bezdicek simply fails to demonstrate that the Hearing Examiner's findings and conclusions that Mr. Bezdicek failed to meet his burden are not supported by sufficient evidence in the Record considered as a whole.⁶

ISSUE 2

Whether good cause exists for the Hearing Examiner's extension of the date of the hearing.

Mr. Bezdicek argues that the hearing was held in violation of I.C. § 18-8002A based upon the Hearing Examiner's sua sponte determination that good cause existed to extend the date of the administrative hearing, without providing any authority for his analysis.

The original Notice of Suspension was issued to Mr. Bezdicek on March 18, 2014. The thirty days of temporary driving privileges as provided in the original Notice of Suspension were to expire April 17, 2014 (R. p. 31).

On March 24, 2014, the Hearing Examiner scheduled Mr. Bezdicek's hearing to take place by telephone conference call on April 17, 2014 (R. pp. 53-54). Also on March

⁶ Mr. Bezdicek does not characterize his argument in the context of I.C. § 67-5279(3). The Hearing Examiner's decision here is not based on an unlawful procedure, I.C. § 67-5279(3)(c) and is not an abuse of discretion, I.C. § 67-5279(3)(e).

24, 2014 the Hearing Examiner issues a *show cause* letter indicating that hearing date had been extended to April 17, 2014 to allow time for the receipt of subpoenaed information requested by Mr. Bezdicek (R. p. 43).⁷

Additionally, on March 24, 2014 the Hearing Examiner at Mr. Bezdicek's request issued subpoenas and subpoena duces tecums with a production date of April 7, 2014 (R. pp. 51-52).

⁷ The Department issued what is termed a "show cause" letter. The title of the letter is unfortunate, however, Mr. Bezdicek's show cause letter does not require that Mr. Bezdicek "show cause." Instead the letter notifies Mr. Bezdicek that the date of the hearing has been extended to permit the receipt of subpoenaed evidence requested by Mr. Bezdicek and in spite of its title, is clearly the Hearing Examiner's determination that good cause exists to extend the hearing date to accommodate the requested discovery.

The Hearing Examiner extended the hearing date so that the discovery requested by Mr. Bezdicek would be available prior to the administrative hearing. The Hearing Examiner clearly and with substantial detail sets out the basis for his determination that good cause exists to extend the hearing date, see Findings 7.1-7.39 (R. pp. 16-21).8

Mr. Bezdicek argues that the remaining 67 days suspension (the effective date of the suspension was April 17, 2014 expiring on July 16, 2014 and entered on April 30, 2014) should be vacated because the Department did not timely schedule the Administrative License Suspension within 30 days of the date of the Notice of Temporary Driving Privileges.⁹

- 7.7 On March 24, 2014, the Hearing Officer issued subpoenas' for all relevant persons and documents setting forth a compliance date of April 7, 2014.
- 7.8 The Department routinely allows three days for service of the subpoena and ten days for production of the requested evidence.
- 7.13 The ultimate decision to extend a license suspension hearing is at the discretion of the hearing officer, and is not contingent upon a specific request from the petitioner.
- 7.15Due to the request for additional discovery outside the statutorily mandated documents, the Hearing Examiner determined good cause existed for the 10 day extension to allow for receipt of requested subpoena evidence, forwarding of the evidence, and review of the evidence.
- 7.16Consequently, the Hearing Examiner extended the allowable hearing time frame for one ten day period allowing the hearing to be held within 30 days or April 21, 2014, at the latest.

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, R. pp. 17-18.

If a hearing is requested, the hearing shall be held within twenty (20) days of the date the hearing request was received by the department unless this period is, for good cause shown, extended by the hearing officer for one ten (10) day period. Such an extension shall not operate as a stay of the suspension, notwithstanding an extension of the hearing date beyond such thirty (30) day period.

⁸Specifically the Hearing Examiner finds:

^{7.6} To allow time for the receipt of the subpoenaed evidence as requested by the petitioner, the Hearing Examiner extended the hearing March 24, 2014, and the Department scheduled the hearing to April 17, 2014, 24 days following the Request for Hearing, within the 10-day extension period, and the 30 day time frame as mandated by statute.

⁹ Idaho Code § 18-8002A provides:

Mr. Bezdicek does not indicate he suffered any harm or consequence as a result of the scheduling of the hearing only that the hearing was not scheduled as provided for in I.C. § 18-8002A(7). However, as the District Court found, Mr. Bezdicek's hearing was indeed scheduled within the thirty days of the date of the Notice of Suspension (R. p. 189).

Mr. Bezdicek makes this argument only in the context of the scheduling of the administrative hearing, not raising a due process argument as to the circumstances of the scheduling of the hearing. Since the hearing was held within thirty days of the Notice of the Suspension, Mr. Bezdicek's argument fails.

Mr. Bezdicek fails to request that the Hearing Examiner grant a stay of the effective date of the suspension knowing that the extension of the hearing date does not act as a stay of the effective date of the pending suspension.¹⁰

¹⁰The *show cause* letter clearly indicates that the scheduling of the hearing does not operate as a stay of the pending suspension. Mr. Bezdicek was advised that temporary driving privileges expired 30 days after the service of the Notice of Suspension (R. p. 31).

Mr. Bezdicek does not make a request for a stay of the effective date of the suspension pending the Hearing Examiner's decision. The Hearing Examiner was dated April 30, 2014. The Hearing Examiner makes Mr. Bezdicek's suspension effective April 17, 2014 through July 16, 2014.

It is appropriate for the Hearing Examiner to ensure that Mr. Bezdicek has the discovery that he requested prior to the hearing.¹¹

The Hearing Examiner appropriately analyzed his responsibility to determine that good cause existed for scheduling the hearing and demonstrates his thought process. As the Court of Appeals cautioned in *Bell v. Idaho Transportation Department*, *151 Idaho* 659, 262 P.3d 1030 (Ct. App. 2011), it is unreasonable to expect that the driver could be sufficiently prepared for the Administrative License Suspension hearing without the receipt of the requested discovery information.

Good cause generally means: "substantial reason, one that affords legal excuse.

Legally sufficient ground or reason." Blacks Law Dictionary 629 (5th Ed. 1979)

Good cause is a factual determination best left to the discretion of the Hearing Examiner. In the context of good cause to dismiss a criminal prosecution where the Defendant had not been brought to Trial within six months, "the matter is appropriately

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order, R. pp. 19-21.

¹¹ The Hearing Examiner finds:

^{7.22} There is no evidence that the extended hearing was unreasonable or unjustified considering that the extension was directed as to provide Bezdicek the opportunity to review subpoenaed information that was timely provided.

^{7.23} The extension resulted from the need for receipt of additional evidence, forwarding of the evidence, and time to review the evidence.

^{7.33} The purpose of the Subpoenas'Duces Tecum and the extension was Bezdicek's opportunity to obtain the requested documents/information and to make that information a part of the record which was the case in the Administrative License Suspension hearing, thus any argument regarding timeliness of the hearing is irrelevant and not grounds for dismissal of the suspension.

^{7.36} Bezdicek's suspension will not be vacated solely on claims of timeliness issues based on the production of supplemented evidence beyond the requisite documents that need submitted to the Department pursuant to Idaho Code § 18-8002A.

^{7.37} Extending the hearing protected Bezdicek's due process rights did not provide a statutory basis for vacating the license suspension.

left to the discretion of the Trial Court", *State v. Clark*, 135 Idaho 255, 16 P.3d 931 (2000). The Court there indicates "the ultimate decision of whether legal excuse has been shown is a matter for judicial determination upon the *facts and circumstances of each case*, *Clark at 936*. Here the Department's Hearing Examiner makes detailed findings as to the "good cause" for his action to extend the date of the Administrative License Suspension Hearing. The Court should not on judicial review separately weigh the evidence as invited by Mr. Bezdicek, I.C. §67-5279 (See FN 6).

In other settings good cause has been expressed as a "factual inquiry", ascertaining whether legal cause exists is based upon the *facts and circumstances of each use* (service of summons), *Martin v. Hoblit, 133 Idaho 371, 987 P.2d 284, 288, 987 P.2d 284 (1999)*, or good cause is the standard of *reasonableness as applied to the average man or woman* (unemployment) *Small v. Jacklin Seed Co., 109 Idaho 541, 545, 709 P.2d 114, 118 (1985)*.

Mr. Bezdicek fails to argue that he was in any way prejudiced by the Hearing Examiner's scheduling of the Administrative Hearing. Mr. Bezdicek also failed to object to the scheduling of the Hearing before the Hearing Examiner.

Not only does Mr. Bezdicek fail to indicate that there is any authority for his analysis, Mr. Bezdicek does not make a constitutional analysis suggesting that due process or equal protection are implicated by the Hearing Examiner's action.

Mr. Bezdicek is apparently suggesting that a Hearing Examiner should not consider a driver's discovery request and the request for the issuance of subpoenas when scheduling an Administrative License Suspension Hearing. The Idaho Courts have been interested in the circumstances of the scheduling of Administrative License Suspension Hearing, *Bell v. Idaho Transp. Dept. 151 Idaho 659, 262 P.3d 1030 (Ct.App. 2011)* considering the driver's

burden and request for discovery. Mr. Bezdicek is arguing that it is apparently inappropriate for the Hearing Examiner to consider the Idaho Appellate Court's concern about the Department's "cumbersome" administrative process, *Bell v. Idaho Transp. Dept.* 151 Idaho 659, 262 P.3d 1030 (Ct.App. 2011).

Finally, Mr. Bezdicek is asking the Court to intrude into the Administrative License Suspension process in a wholly inappropriate manner, *Anderson v. Spalding, 137 Idaho* 509 at 520, 50 P.3d 1004 (2002).

There is no question as to the Hearing Examiner's thought process and why the hearing was scheduled beyond the twenty days and within thirty days (See FN 7 & 10). The Hearing Examiner appropriately exercised his discretion in setting the Hearing in this matter, responding to the Court's continuing concerns about the Department's Administrative License Procedure.¹²

This analysis of good cause must also be considered in light of the Idaho Court's determination that Dennis McNeely's interest in driving privileges was not so substantial as to require a pre suspension hearing, although the interest may be affected by the length of the suspension period and the timeliness of a post suspension review proceeding. *McNeely v. State, 119 Idaho 182, 804 P.2d 911 (Ct. App. 1990).* Additionally, upon being notified that the scheduling of the hearing date did not stay the suspension, Mr. Bezdicek fails to request a stay of the suspension pending the Hearing Examiner's decision.

As the District Court correctly determined, Mr. Bezdicek did not prevail on his claim that he had met his burden pursuant to I.C. § 18-8002A(7). Had Mr. Bezdicek

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

¹² The Idaho Court has continued to express its concern about protecting the driver's due process interest, *Platz, 154 Idaho 960, 303 P.3d 647 at 657 (Ct. App. 2013), In re Beyer, 155 Idaho 40, 304 P.3d 1206 (Ct. App. 2013).*

prevailed in meeting his burden pursuant to I.C. § 18-8002A(7) there might be a different basis for Mr. Bezdicek's argument but without making a due process argument and indicating the nature of the harm that Mr. Bezdicek suffered, there is no harm for the Court

to consider.

Mr. Bezdicek does not demonstrate any injury, harm or consequence as a result of

the Hearing Examiner's action scheduling the hearing or the Hearing Examiner's finding

that good cause existed for the scheduling of the hearing to provide Mr. Bezdicek sufficient

time (ten days) to prepare for the Administrative License Suspension hearing.

V. CONCLUSION

Mr. Bezdicek has not met his burden pursuant to I.C. § 18-8002A(7). Legal cause

exists for the stop of Mr. Bezdicek's vehicle. Legal cause exists for Officer Mowery's

belief that Mr. Bezdicek was operating a motor vehicle under the influence of alcohol.

Mr. Bezdicek has not met his burden to demonstrate that he suffered any cognizable

harm, injury or consequence as a result of the Hearing Examiner's scheduling of the

Administrative License Suspension hearing or that the date of the hearing was

unreasonably extended.

The Hearing Examiner's decision to suspend Mr. Bezdicek's driving privileges

should be sustained and Mr. Bezdicek's driving privileges should be suspended for ninety

days.